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architectural features while hand cleaning. Soil samples were taken from observable strata in trench walls
for later comparison and analysis in the laboratory. Vertical control was generally maintained by observing
natural or man-made stratification; however, in Phase IV one block was excavated in 10-cm levels in order
to obtain tighter control over a stratum that appeared to be undisturbed.

Daily journals were kept by the supervisor and field director and by individuals excavating specific features.
Level reports were used where pertinent, and trenches and features were drawn to scale on blueline maps
of the block provided by the county. Elevations within the trenches were measured from the surface of the
asphalt, considering this level as a datum plane over the entire site.

All field notes, journals, drawings, maps, photographs, and research materials are on file at the CAR-UTSA,
along with the artifacts and soil samples recovered. Each individual structure investigated has been assigned
a standard trinomial site number by the Texas Archeological Research Laboratory in Austin,

PHASE 1

In July 1978, a CAR archaeological crew consisting of two graduate students and a number of student
volunteers under the direction of the senior author conducted test trenching at the south end of NCB 100
(Figs. 6, 7). The purpose of the testing was to determine what cultural remains were still present beneath
the parking lot pavement. At that time, the county was planning to build an annex to the courthouse on the
property. Preliminary research had indicated that in 1873 there had been a group of small “adobe” (actually
soft limestone) houses on the southeast corner of the block, and a row of smaller houses along the west edge
of the block at the southwest corner. The houses on the southwest corner had commercial buildings
constructed over them by 1920, but the houses on the southeast corner had survived until the 1950s when
they were razed, and the area was immediately made into a parking lot. It was hoped that testing in this
portion of the block would yield information on the comparative condition of the historical remains that had
been covered with more recent buildings versus those that had been covered with asphalt paving. Such
information would be useful in determining what additional areas of the block should be excavated before
the new courthouse annex was built.

223 WEST NUEVA STREET (41 BX 334)

Structural History

The “adobe” house and its related kitchen, located at 223 West Nueva Street, were apparently built before
1873. In 1873, the kitchen was a separate building. By 1885, the two structures had been joined by building -
a porch between them. In 1904 (Fig. 3), there was a frame addition on the north end of the kitchen. The
entire structure was razed by 1950.

Archaeological Testing

Trench 1 was laid out north-south across the locations of the Campbell kitchen and house. Starting at the
north end of the trench, the following features were exposed and recorded. Munsell color codes were not
recorded during this part of the project.

Outside of the north kitchen wall (Fig. 8,a) a dark brown layer of soil found below the gravel base for the
asphalt parking surface, contained numerous small artifacts (Table 2,d). A builder’s trench, 10 cm (four
inches) wide, was found on either side of the limestone foundation for the kitchen wall, Fragments of brick
were found in the top of the trench on the outside of the wall.
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TABLE 2. ARTIFACTS FROM 223 WEST NUEVA STREET (41 BX 334)

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
a, beneath kitchen Household Item
Activity Items Flower pot, stoneware 1
Porcelain doll 1 Kitchen/Dining Items
Clothing Bone 2
Buckle 1 Bottle caps 2
Construction Items Ceramics
Brick, red 2 Porcelain (French mark) 2
Ceramic sewer pipe 5 Glass container fragments 7
Nails 4 Tin can bottom 1
Plaster 3
d, north of kitchen
b, between kitchen and house Clothing
Construction Items Buttons 3
Brick 14 Construction Items
Ceramic tile, grooved 1 Iron bolt 1
Metal, cuprous 1 Insulated wire
Nails 7 Nails 17
Window glass 3 Plaster 4
Household Items Window glass 8
Flower pot, unglazed 2 Kitchen/Dining Items
Kitchen/Dining Items Beer mug 3
" Glass container 1 Bone 50
Tin can scrap 14 Bottle cap 1
) Ceramics
¢, house area Burnished earthenware 1
Activity Items Porcelain 1
pper printing plates 11 Egg shells 2
Construction Items Glass container fragments 21
Brick 6 Glass stopper 1
Ceramic tile 5 Iron scrap 10
Metal, miscellaneous 1
Nails 4
Plaster 5
Wire 1

The kitchen wall foundation had been dug into sterile dark brown clay loam typical of that found beneath
most of the city. The remaining foundation consisted of two layers of cut limestone blocks, each block
measuring approximately 30 x 45 x 20 cm (12 x 18 x 8 inches), laid in sandy lime mortar.

Beneath the kitchen floor, the soil consisted of a layer of gray tan loam containing limestone chips and chunks
and plaster (Table 2,a). A thin lens of brown friable soil covered the top of the builder’s trench, and below
this was a layer of tan, sandy clay loam that contained lenses of caliche. Near the bottom of the foundation,
this layer was underlain by the sterile dark brown clay loam.

The south wall foundation of the kitchen was found to be constructed in the same manner as that of the north.
North of the south wall of the kitchen (60 cm [24 inches]), a 15-cm (six-inch) ceramic sewer pipe ran across
the trench, parallel to the wall. A notch (5x5 x15cm [2x2 x6inches] deep) cut into the top of the southern
half of the wall foundation would appear to have been made to receive supports for flooring in the porch
area between the kitchen and the main house, constructed between 1873 and 1885.

The soil in the area between the kitchen and the house, below the parking lot fill, was a heavy variegated
dark brown clay, very dense and impossible to trowel. Artifacts found there (Table 2,b) were not particularly
diagnostic, but appear to be mostly from the time of demolition of the buildings.

The foundation of the house also of cut limestone, set in sand and lime mortar, was 60 cm (24 inches) wide
(Fig. 8,b). The soil beneath the house was identical to that between the house and the kitchen. Artifacts
found in that area (Table 2,c) were not remarkable, with the exception of a cache of 11 copper printing plates
found beneath the front porch that bore the imprints of illustrations from Dr. Campbell’s (1925) book, Bats,
Mosquitoes and Dollars. One interesting thing about these plates is the fact that several of the illustrations
did not appear in the book, perhaps victims of a zealous editor during the last stages of production of the
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book. Two concrete-covered iron pipes and a one-inch iron pipe (Fig. 7) were found to cross the test trench
beneath the house.

Summary

Trench 1 uncovered the walls of the Campbell house and its detached kitchen. The original ground surface
appeared to be virtually undisturbed by the demolition of the house and subsequent construction of the
parking lot over the foundations.

225 WEST NUEVA STREET (41 BX 335)

Structural History

A small “adobe” house and detached frame and stone kitchen were built before the Civil War at 225 West
Nueva Street. By 1888, a shed had been built on the east lot line, behind the kitchen (Sanborn Map and
Publishing Company, Ltd. 1888). By 1904, apparently the kitchen had been converted into a dwelling (Fig. 3).
Sometime between 1904 and 1923, the house and kitchen burned, and the whole lot was cleared of structures
(Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. 1923).

Archaeological Testing

Three test trenches crossed this site. Trench 2 just caught the outside of the southwest corner of the house
(Figs.7,9,a). Trench 3 revealed the east and west walls and the ground beneath the house. Trench4 revealed
the north and south walls of the kitchen and the north wall of the house.

Evidence of the deposits outside the west wall of the house was found in Trenches 2 and 3 (Table 3,a). As
might be expected, the artifacts represented the entire time period of the life of the house.

In the section of Trench 3 beneath the house (Table 3,b), the artifacts were primarily representative of the
pre-Civil War period, with the addition of demolition debris from the razing of the structure. The house
foundation, as revealed in Trenches 2, 3, and 4, consisted of cut limestone blocks with sandy lime mortar set
in a narrow footing trench slightly wider than the wall. The foundations were 45 cm (18 inches) wide. From
the amount of plaster present in the demolition fill, it was apparent that the house had been plastered both
inside and outside.

As revealed in Trench 4, the north kitchen wall foundation was of cut limestone, 60 cm (24 inches) wide,
mortared with mud. The foundation stones were set into a trench the exact width of the intended wall in
typical Spanish fashion. Artifacts from an excavation north of the kitchen wall (Table 3,c) represent the
entire time range of the occupation of the house. The south wall of the kitchen had been removed, and the
wall trench had become a pipe trench into which a one-inch metal pipe had been laid.

The ceiling beams of the kitchen had apparently collapsed during or after the fire, as large sections of
blue-painted wood overlay the burned layer beneath the kitchen. Several coats of the same blue paint had
been applied to fragments of wall plaster found in the same deposit. A 1.8-m (6-foot) section of the burned
layer inside the kitchen was troweled to a depth of 50 cm (20 inches) below the asphalt surface. The artifacts
recovered (Table 3,d) date to the last quarter of the 19th century and may represent objects in use and present
within the structure when it burned.

The original ground level between the house and kitchen was found to be 40 cm (16 inches) below the top

of the asphalt, and the foundation trenches were dug from that level. Above this level was a layer of burned
material that extended both inside and outside the house. Artifacts removed from this area (Table 3,¢) were
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TABLE 3. ARTIFACTS FROM 225 WEST NUEVA STREET (41 BX 335)

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF

ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS

a, Trenches 2 and 3, west of house Kitchen/Dining Items
Construction Items Bone 44

Battery carbon 1 Ceramics

Brick 8 Decorated whitewares

Ceramic tile 5 Banded slip 1

Composition washer 1 Cut sponge 1

Miscellaneous metal 2 Spatter 1

Nails 4 Ironstone 13

Kitchen/Dining Items Porcelain 1

Bone 2 Glass container fragments 33

Ceramics Tin can scrap 2
Decorated whitewares Personal Items

Hand painted 1 Buckle 1
Spatter 1 Mirror 1
Ironstone 1
Lead-glazed earthenware 1 d, Trench 4, beneath kitchen (burned level)
Glass container fragment 1 Activity Items
lay marble 1
b, Trench 3, beneath house Pencﬂ lead 1
Activity Item
Domino face 1 Shotgun shell 1
Clothing Strap hook, military 1
. Metal button 1 Barn/Shop/Workshop Items
White glass buttons 2 Auto spring 1
Construction Items Washers 1

Brick 12 Wire 1

Ceramic tile 1 Construction Items

Nails 18 Brick 8

Plaster 2 Ceramic tile 3

Sheet copper 1 Nails 97

Spike 1 Window glass 9

indow glass 7 Kitchen/Dining Items
Household Items Bone 100
S chimney 3 Ceramics
Kltchen/ mmg Items Ironstone 10
34 Glass bottle ("A. NETTE/

Ceramxcs APOTHECARY") 1
Burnished ware 1 Glass container fragments 41
Decorated whitewares Pressed glass 11

Banded sli 9 Pan handle 1
Gold decal decorated 1 Household Items
Painted 5 Drawer pull 1
Spatter 3 Lamp chimney 6
Lead-glazed ware 2 Miscellaneous Items
Tin-glazed ware (19th century) 1 Cinders 3
Undecorated whiteware 8 Personal Items
Unglazed ware 1 White glass buttons 5
Glass container fragments 18
Personal Items e, Trench 4, between house and kitchen
Comb (q_ltent 1851) 1 Activity Items
Lincoln Head penny (n.d.) 1 ay marbles 3
Barn/Shop/Workshop Items
¢, Trench 4, outside kitchen north wall Horseshoe 1
Actm(t/y tems Screw shank 1
lay marbles 2 Construction Items
Clothing Nails 33
Buttons 2 Plaster fragments S
Construction Items Kitchen/Dining Items

Brick 5 Bone 23

Nails 20 Ceramics

Window glass 13 Ironstone 2

Household Items Personal Items
Lamp chimney 4 Perfume bottle 1
White glass buttons 2
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mostly the sort of small objects that might have been lost or discarded and not noticed by the residents of
the house.

Summary

Here again, the preservation of original ground surfaces appeared to be good, including a layer of charcoal
that probably indicated the destruction of the buildings by fire sometime early in the 20th century. The
artifactual and archival information suggests that the building at the rear had varied uses throughout the life
of the structure.

227 WEST NUEVA STREET (41 BX 336)

Structural History

The small “adobe” house at the front of the lot located at 227 West Nueva Street was probably built in 1856.
Sometime before 1873 (Koch 1873), another “adobe” structure had been built on the east lot line some
distance to the rear. By 1885, several small rooms had been added to the rear “adobe” building. The
structure may have first been intended as a shed or storage building, but by 1885 (Fig. 2), it was being used
as a dwelling and had been assigned a separate house number (227-1/2). By 1917, the house in the front of
the lot had become a grocery store, the proprietor then living in the house at the rear.

The buildings were razed in 1944 in preparation for construction of a commercial building facing onto South

Flores Street. At this time, there was a well in the yard between the front and rear structures (James Kallison,
personal communication). The wall was not found during Phase I work.

Archaeological Testing

Two test trenches exposed information about 41 BX 336. Trench 3, extending from the house at 225 West
Nueva Street, crossed the house at the front of this lot as well. Trench 5 crossed the small dwelling on the
back of the lot.

Trench 3 revealed a 5-1/2-inch ceramic pipeline running north-south between the houses, then a 45-cm
(18-inch)-wide cut limestone foundation for the house/store building. Artifacts found in cleaning this wall
and area immediately around it (Table 4,a,b) were few, and none were particularly diagnostic.

Next encountered within the house foundation was an iron pipe, followed by an area of obvious disturbance
containing red clay and gravel within which was found a concrete footing. Apparently this had replaced the
west foundation wall of the house, perhaps as part of the new building constructed in the 1940s. Artifacts
found in the general vicinity of this feature (Table 4,c¢) included 80 wire nails, which probably also reflected
the new construction.

The east wall of the small structure at the back of the lot was found to cross Trench 5 at a slight angle, about
45 cm (18 inches) below the surface. This foundation was 41 cm (16 inches) wide and made of carelessly
laid, unshaped limestone. A stone-robbed trench was the only indication found of the south wall of what
was probably the original “adobe” section of the building.

Artifacts found beneath this structure (Table 4,d), primarily in the construction trench of the east wall,
included painted plaster, animal bones, a painted clay marble, glass fragments, sherds of hand-painted ware
and spatterware, and part of a stoneware crock. The presence of English sherds on this site reflects its first
occupation in the 1850s, and suggests that the small house at the rear may have predated the house at the
front of the lot, serving as a dwelling for some time before the latter was constructed.
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TABLE 4. ARTIFACTS FROM 227 WEST NUEVA STREET (41 BX 336)

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
a, outside east wall Kitchen/Dining Items
Construction Items Ceramic
Brick and tile 3 Hand-painted whiteware 1
Ceramic sewer pipe 8 Glass container fragments 2
. Nails 2 Personal Item
Kitchen/Dining Items Leather shoe sole
Glass container fragments 2
d, inside second dwelling
b, east wall Activity Item
Activity Item Iararble 1
Slate fragment 1 Construction Items
Construction Jtems Ceramic tile 1
Ceramic tile 5 Plaster 3
Nails 3 Tack 1
_ Plaster 1 Household Item
Kitchen/Dining Items Flower pot 1
Glass container fragments 4 Kitchen/Dining Items
Bone 9
¢, beneath house Ceramics
Construction Items Decorated whitewares
Metal rods 2 Hand painted 1
Nails 80 Spatter 1
ls’iastcr 1 Stoneware 1
Tew 1 Glass container fi t 7
Sorer 1 ntainer fragments
Summary

The west wall of the structure at the front of the lot had later been replaced by a concrete foundation, and
the entire area of the house was disturbed during this operation and the subsequent demolition of the later
building. However, a small outbuilding at the back of the lot near the acequia, investigated by Trench 5,
appeared to be in better condition. The foundation of this shedlike building is made of unshaped stone,
some of which has been removed, leaving only the original footing trenches. Use of this structure, judging
from the artifacts, was from the mid 1800s to the early 1900s. It apparently was the home of the Dullnig
family when they converted their residence at the front of the lot into a store around 1900.

SAN PEDRO ACEQUIA (41 BX337)

Structural History

The acequia, or irrigation ditch, was built in the early 18th century (Fox 1978b:7). The section through the
center of town was lined with cut stone in the mid-19th century. However, from the Sanborn insurance maps,
it appears that the section of the acequia through NCB 100 was not lined until sometime between 1888 and
1892. The ditch provided water for the use of households located along its banks until the late 19th century.
When the citizens became convinced that the open ditch was a health hazard, it was closed ca. 1906, rapidly
filled with trash, and covered with earth. Although the ditch was no longer in use, or even visible in most
areas, its location has continued as a property boundary from that time forward.
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Archaeological Testing

Trench 5 crossed the acequia behind 41 BX 336. It was first noted as a large area of late 19th-century and
early 20th-century trash in the bottom of the trench. The trench was cleaned off to 60 cm (24 inches) at that
point, and excavation of this area was begun with the expectation of finding the acequia. This was based on
the fact that the artifacts represented the time when it was going out of use and was probably being used as
a trash dump, as in other parts of San Antonio (see Schuetz 1970).

All material removed from the unit was screened. A layer of gray clay containing charcoal, rusted metal,
and artifacts was found to cap the deposits. Below this, the fill was loose and contained more artifacts
(Fig. 9,b). At 86 cm (36 inches), the top of the north wall of the acequia lining was encountered, but there
was still no sign of the south wall. The contents were then excavated in several discrete levels for the sake
of control (Table 5). A cedar post was found inside the north wall of the acequia, and another outside what
was later found to be the line of the south wall. These may have been lot boundary fences installed after the
filling in of the acequia, since the bottom of the northern post was found to be slightly above the level of the
bottom of the acequia. At 113 cm (44 inches), the fill became more compact, but the same types of artifacts
appeared to continue. The bottom of the ditch was found to be 154 cm (60 inches) below the surface. There
was a layer of cobbles and limestone chunks on the bottom, perhaps the result of shaping stones for the lining.
The south wall of the acequia had been robbed of its stone, but the wall trench was still visible in the profile
of the trench. A dark gray clay south of the wall trench was filled with charcoal, bricks, and a few artifacts
of the same time period as those within the ditch. Analysis and cross-mending of artifacts from the acequia
fill (Table 6,a,b) indicate that the fill was probably put into the ditch in one episode after the turn of the
century, possibly from trash deposits from the backs of surrounding lots in the area.

TABLE 5. ARTIFACTS FROM THE SAN PEDRO ACEQUIA (41 BX 337)

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
0-24 inches ) Ceramics
Activity Items Decorated whitewares
oll parts 3 Banded slip 1
Slate fragments 3 Cut sponge 1
Barn/Shop/Workshop Items Over-glazed decorated 8
Harness/saddle parts 7 Painted 5
Tools 3 Transfer 23
Wire 13 Lead-glazed ware 15
Clothing Plain-colored ware 2
Buttons 5 Porcelain 46
Buckle 1 Stoneware 41
Shoe parts 2 Tin-glazed ware
Stocking fastener 1 Guanajuato 1
Construction Items Undecorated whiteware: 91
Brick 2 Glass container fragments 197
Building hardware 3 Goblets 2
Carbon rods 3 Pressed glass 2 -
Ceramic insulators 2 Shell 2
Cut nails 6 Tin can scrap fragments 34
Electric fixture 1 Tumblers 2
Hardware 5 Personal Items
Heavy rods 2 Ivor{ comb fragment 1
\P;Pe and fittings 5 Kaolin pipe stem 1
indow glass 22
Window screen 2 24-36 inches
Wire nails 37 Arms
Household Items . Shotgun cartridge 1
Ceramic brazier 1 Construction Items
Flower pot 11 Brick/tile 7
Furniture hardware 1 Building hardware 3
. Lamg_ parts 5 Ceramic insulators 2
Kitchen/Dining Items Cut nails 4
Bone : 52 Plaster 3
Bottle caps Window glass 9
Crown caps 3 Wire nails 11
Glass stoppers 2
Metal screw caps 2
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TABLE 5. (continued)

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
Household Items Painted 7
Ceramic brazier 7 Lead-glazed ware 3
Flower pot 12 Porcelain 13
Furniture hardware 2 Stoneware 43
Lamp parts 21 Undecorated whiteware: 65
Kitchen/Dining Items Yellow ware 4
Bone . 65 Glass container fragments 61
Bottle caps 8 Glass stopper 1
Ceramics Pressed/cut glass 4
Decorated whitewares Tin can scrap 2
Banded slip 2 Tumbler 3
Cut sponge 2
Over-glazed decorated 3 42-60 inches
Painted 2 Activity Items
Transfer 3 oll parts 5
Lead-glazed ware 1 Slate fragments 5
Porcelain 27 Slate pencils 2
Stoneware 37 s
Tin-glazed wares Shell casings
Blue-on-white 1 Barn/Shop/Workshop Items
Late 19th-century 1 Cuprous metal strapping 2
Undecorated whiteware 84 Hardware 6
Yellow ware 3 Machine parts 4
Glass container fragments 102 Clothing
Pressed/cut glass 5 Buttons . 14
Tin can scrap 21 Construction Items
Tumbler 1 Brick/tile 6
Miscellaneous Items Ceramic door knob 1
Coal fragments 12 Cut nails 7
Plaster 2
36-42 inches Window glass 12
Activity Items Wire nails 7
Doll parts 2 Household Items
Marbles 2 Ceramic brazier 2
Slate fragment 1 Flower pot 11
Slate pencil 1 Furniture caster 1
Barn/Shop/Workshop Items Lamp chimney 37
Harness/saddle parts 2 Kitchen/Dining Items
Machinery parts 2 Bone 58
Mule shoe 1 Bottle cap 1
Tool 1 Ceramics
Clothing Decorated whitewares
Buttons 9 Banded slip 1
Straight pin 1 Cut sponge 3
Constﬁu_ctlt(;n] tems s Is’ainted g
rick/tile nge
Cut nails 9 Tpr:(a)nsgfer 4
Iron fence finial 1 Lead-glazed ware 9
Window glass 6 Porcelain 22
Wire nai 4 Stoneware 108
Household Items Tin-glazed wares
Ceramic brazier 4 Blue-on-white 1
Clock bell 1 Guanajuato 1
Flower pot 6 Undecorated 3
Light bulb parts 2 Undecorated whiteware. 98
Kitchen/Dining Items Glass container fragments 84
e 1 = :
ee grinder part ressed/cut glass
Ceramig P Shell g 4
Decorated whitewares Tumbler 1
)(3:lue edged % Pcrsolr%:l %tems ¢ )
ut sponge olin pipe stem fragments
Over-%l)azged decorated 1 pipe e
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TABLE 6. TYPES OF SHERDS AND MAKER’S MARKS
FROM THE SAN PEDRO ACEQUIA (41 BX 337)

a, provenience of sherds of same pattern

PROVENIENCE
0-24 24-36 3642 42-60
ARTIFACT TYPE inches inches inches inches
Pink stoneware bowl X X
Blue painted earthenware X X X X
Blue, green, and brown painted earthenware X X
Blue-on-white majolica X X
Ceramic brazier X X X
b, ceramics with maker’s marks
PROVENIENCE MAKER’S MARKS DATE REFERENCE
0-24 inches None identifiable
24-36 inches Wedgewood & Co., England 1860-1900 Godden 1971:98
Grindley, England after 1891 Godden 1964:294
Maastricht, Holland 1880-1929 Atterbury 1979:55
3642 inches Mellor, Taylor & Co., England 1880-1904 Godden 1964:432
42-60 inches C. C. Thompson Co., U.S. est. 1888 Ramsay 1976:218
Henry Burgess, England 1864-1892 Godden 1964:116
"Pearl White" - could be Thomas Tili
& Son, England 1850-1928 Godden 1964:617
Summary

The tested section of the San Pedro acequia contained a variety of late 19th-century and early 20th-century
artifacts, the result of trash dumping after the water to the ditch was shut off in 1906. It was a surprise to
also find at the bottom of the ditch fragments of 18th-century Mexican-made majolica and lead-glazed
vessels, indicating that the annual cleaning of the ditch may not have been as rigorous here as elsewhere in
the city. It was not possible to relate the trash in the ditch fill to any one residence in the area. Only one
wall of the acequia is still present in this section; the other apparently has been removed, perhaps for reuse
of the stones.

Trenches 6 and 7 came down on heavy concrete slabs and were abandoned without any further work.

CONCLUSIONS FOR PHASE 1

During Phase I work, three small residential lots were examined, and details of the construction of the
buildings were recorded. It was found that artifacts in the vicinity of the structures generally reflected the
time period in which they were occupied, and could be used to suggest or confirm dates of construction on
the lot.

Foundations for the average type of “adobe” house of mid-19th-century San Antonio appear to have been
built of shaped limestone set in mortar made of lime and sand. The foundations for most of these houses
were laid up in setting trenches four to six inches wider on each side than the finished width of the foundation,
instead of using the older Spanish/Mexican practice of tamping and puddling foundation stones into a trench
the exact width of the intended foundation (Fox and Hester 1976:12, 22). Only one of the structures
examined, the kitchen at 225 West Nueva Street, was built in the older way.
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Of these homesteads, it appears that the ones at 223 and 225 West Nueva Street (41 BX 334 and 41 BX 335)
have sufficient undisturbed archaeological deposits to be eligible for nomination as State Archeological
Landmarks on the basis that each in its own way is typical of an architectural style of a specific time period
in San Antonio. Each would also be capable of producing information on lot layout and use, and on changing
middle-class life styles from the mid-19th century to the early 20th century.

THE INTERIM, THE 1970s

After the paving of the south end of NCB 100 in the 1950s, a gradual increase had occurred in the amount
of paved surface area on the block. This was partially a result of the gradual demolition of the small, older
remodeled residential buildings and the construction of new, fireproof, reinforced concrete commercial
buildings facing onto South Flores and Dolorosa Streets. As the demand for additional parking space
continued to grow in the 1970s, eventually these newer buildings were demolished, and their lots were paved.
By 1979, only four buildings were left standing on the entire block.

PHASE 1I

In July 1979, the county demolished the remaining four buildings on the north end of NCB 100. The most
prominent of these was the two-story, cut stone Luetcke-Herald Building on Lot 3 (see Figs. 2, 3, and 4), the
facade of which had been extensively modified. The demolition was monitored by Harvey P. Smith, Jr., a
registered architect and staff member of the CAR. The intent of the monitoring was to determine whether
any of the buildings had been built around portions of 18th-century structures, or if traces of earlier buildings
or artifact deposits might be observed in the ground as the structures were removed.

The buildings were razed to ground level, after which the entire remaining area of the lot was paved with
asphalt for parking. Smith documented the demolition process with black and white photographs and color
slides. He noted no evidence of earlier buildings or trash deposits in the area that was cleared.

PHASE III

In August 1986, CAR archaeologists returned to the northeast corner of NCB 100 to determine the state of
preservation of the San Pedro acequia (41 BX 337) and to determine if further work would be warranted in
connection with the examination of traces of the Salinas-Barrera and de la Garza houses (41 BX 647).

A period of one week (August 25 to 29) was spent on test excavations by an archaeological crew consisting
of two graduate students and a number of student volunteers. The crew worked under the supervision of
project director Anne Fox and field supervisor Bruce Ellis. Four trenches (A, B, C, and D in Fig. 10) were
excavated east to west across the area.

TRENCH A

Trench A was located 2.7 m (8.7 feet) south of the inside edge of the sidewalk along Dolorosa Street and
extended from the inside edge of the sidewalk along South Main Avenue to a point 18 m (59.2 feet) to the
west (Fig. 10). It was extended well to the west of the estimated location of the acequia in order to be positive
in our identification of what was found. Stratification within this trench (and generally throughout the study
area) was found to be as follows (see Fig. 11,a):

Asphalt parking lot material

Level 1 - reddish tan (5 YR 6/6) gravel fill, sterile
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Level 2 - light gray (10 YR 7/1) gravel fill containing demolition materials and a few
19th-century artifacts

Level 3 - loose gray brown (5 YR 6/1) clay loam containing 18th-century and some early
19th-century artifacts

Level 4 - compact, darker gray brown (4 YR 3/1) clay loam containing fewer 18th-century
artifacts

Level 5 - sterile dark brown (10 YR 2/2) clay loam grading to caliche

Backhoe excavation of Trench A revealed that the construction and later demolition of a 20th-century
building with reinforced concrete foundations had severely impacted the area. The de la Garza house
foundation is believed to be located too far east to be included in the trench, and probably was removed
during the construction of Main Avenue through the areca. The east foundation wall of the Salinas-Barrera
house was probably taken out during the construction of the later building on the site.

A similar situation happened in the case of the west wall of the Salinas-Barrera house. However, in this
instance the concrete footing was found to have been dug into the remains of the stone foundation without
completely removing it (Fig. 11,c). This fortunate circumstance allowed us to identify and locate the line of
the house’s west wall. Excavations to expose and examine this foundation were designated Unit A3. Artifacts
(Table 7,e) recovered can be dated primarily to the late 18th century, along with a few representative
materials from the demolition of the 20th-century building,

The next structure encountered in excavating Trench A was a pair of parallel cut stone walls, each 64 cm (25
inches) wide and about 120 cm (38 inches) apart that were recognized as the San Pedro acequia: This area
was designated Unit A2. The acequia had a reinforced concrete pier in its center from a later building, and
a concrete bottom. It was filled to the tops of the walls with tan sand containing no artifacts (Fig. 11,b).
Artifacts (Table 7,d) recovered during the cleaning of Unit A2 include a range of 18th-century to
20th-century materials.

At the eastern end of Trench A, a stone foundation wall built of shaped limestone rocks set in sandy loam
mortar was found. Designated Unit Al, deposits in this area were excavated by stratigraphic levels and
screened through 1/4-inch mesh screen.

Levels encountered were generally as previously described for the entire area. Artifacts (Table 7,a,b)
recovered from the east side of the wall are somewhat mixed in date due to confused stratigraphy (Fig. 10,a)
in this area from a later disturbance. Artifacts from the west side (Table 7,¢) indicate a relatively undisturbed
situation there.

TRENCH B

The location of the acequia in Trench B was projected from Trench A, and the immediate areca was excavated.
Artifacts from Levels 2 and 3 (Table 8,a,b) indicated some mixing of deposits in the area. An intrusive sandy
clay containing few artifacts (Table 8,c) filled most of the acequia. A sterile layer of dark brown clay covered
the concrete bottom of the ditch. An iron pipe, partially removed by the backhoe, extended south within the
line of the acequia.

TRENCH C

As in Trench B, work in this trench was concentrated on exposing and recording the acequia. The
overburden was removed by the backhoe to the top of the acequia walls, and Level 2 deposits were also
removed and discarded. Excavation was then limited to the interior of the acequia. Stratigraphic Levels 3a
through 5 were removed (Fig. 12,a), and artifacts were recovered as they were encountered in each level.
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TABLE 7. ARTIFACTS FROM TRENCH A, PHASE III

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
a, Area Al, Level 2 Construction Items
Construction Items Asphalt tile 2
Composition tile 5 Cut nails 7
_ Plaster fragments 4 Mortar fragments 2
Kitchen/Dining Items Plaster fragments
Bone 10 Screws 2
Ceramics Window glass 6
Unglazed earthenware 1 Wire nails 5
Undecorated whiteware 1 Household Item
Glass container fragments 12 Lamp chimney 1
Kitchen/Dining Items
b, Area Al, Level 3 Bone 18
Activity Item Ceramics
Pencil lead 1 Decorated whitewares
Construction Items Banded slip 1
Mortar fragment 1 Hand painted 4
Plaster fragments Shell edged 4
Screw 1 Transfer 4
%&anish brick fragments 2 Goliad 2
indow glass 8 Tin-glazed earthenwares
Wire nails 3 Polychrome 1
Household Item Undecorated 6
Lamp chimney 1 Undecorated whitewares 3
Kitchen/Dining Items Glass container fragments 26
Bone 189 Shell 3
Ceramics Tin can scrap 2
Burnished ware 1 Personal Items
Lead-glazed ware 6 Lincoln penny, 1919 1
Tin-glazed earthenwares Prehistoric Remains
Blue-on-white 1 Chert fragments 2
Huejotzingo 1
Undecorated 3 e, Area A3
Unglazed earthenware 1 Construction Items
Goliad 17 Asphalt tile 4
Shell 6 Ceramic tile 1
Prehistoric Remains Cut nail 1
Biface fragment 1 Mortar fragments 4
Chert fragments 3 Plaster fragments
Window glass 2
¢, Area Al, Level 4 Wire nails 5
Kitchen/Dining Items Kitchen/Dining Items
Bone 72 Bone 80
Ceramics Ceramics
Lead-glazed earthenware 5 Burnished ware 3
Tin-glazed earthenwares Lead-glazed ware 4
Blue-on-white 2 Tin-glazed wares
San Diego Polychrome 1 Huejotzingo 1
San Elizario Polychrome 2 Unglazed 3
Undecorated 1 Unglazed earthenware 3
Unglazed earthenware 2 Goliad 8
Goliad 17 Glass container fragments 7
Shell 10 Sheli 2
Prehistoric Remains Miscellaneous Item
Biface fragment 1 Coal fragment 1
Chert fragments 4 Personal Item
Shoe leather fragment 1
d, Area A2 Prehistoric Remains
Arms Chert fragments 3
Gunflint 1
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TABLE 8. ARTIFACTS FROM TRENCH B, PHASE I

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
a, Level 2 Plaster fragments 4
Activity Item Window glass 40
arble 1 Wire nails 20
Construction Items Household Items
Asphalt tile 11 . Lamp chimney
Ceramic tile 1 Kitchen/Dining Items
Cut nails 4 Bone 37
Mortar fragments 3 Ceramics
Plaster fragments 12 Burnished ware 1
Screws 3 Decorated whitewares
Window glass 28 Banded slip 1
Wire 5 Transfer 2
Household Item Lusterware 1
Flower pot 1 Porcelain 2
Kitchen/Dining Items Tin-glazed ware
Animal bone 13 San Elizario Polychrome 1
Ceramics Glass containers 152
Decorated whitewares Stoneware bottle 8
Banded slip 2 Tin can scrap fragments
Hand painted 4 Miscellaneous Items
Shell edged 3 Coal fragments
Sponge 2
’Il:aonsfer 4 ¢, acequia fill
Goliad 2 nstruction Items
Lead-glazed ware 9 Plaster fragment 1
Tin-glazed wares Rolled metal tube 1
San Elizario Polychrome 1 Window glass 2
Undecorated 4 Wire 1
Porcelain 4 Wire nail 1
Stoneware 1 Household Item
Undecorated whiteware 1 Lamp chimney 1
Glass container fragments 158 Kitchen/Dining Items
Shell 3 Ceramics
Undecorated whiteware 8
b, Level 3 Cooking pan fragment 1
Construction Items Glass container fragments 11
Brick fragment 1
Ceramic pipe 4
Cut nails 5
Mortar fragment 1

The artifacts from Level 3a (Table 9,a), a clay soil that capped the acequia fill, were a mixture of demolition
debris with a few cultural items. The main body of the sandy clay fill in Level 4 (Table 9,b) contained a large
assortment of 18th- and 19th-centuries household materials and personal items and a smaller percentage of
construction materials. Few artifacts were found in the upper part of Level 5 (Table 9,¢), which quickly
became sterile gray clay.

TRENCH D

In Trench D, the acequia had been completely eliminated except for a small pile of limestone at the
approximate location of the west wall. In place of the east acequia wall, a red brick foundation had been
built (Fig. 12,b). Due to the obvious disturbance on both sides of this wall, and a lack of visible stratification,
the excavations were continued without a break from the bottom of the backhoe trench at the contact between
Levels 2 and 3 to a depth of 110 cm (42.9 inches). Artifacts from east and west of the wall were bagged
separately (Table 10). A shovel test was excavated at the east end of the trench to determine the depth of
the deposits.

The artifacts recovered to the east of the brick foundation were not out of character with what had been
found in Level 3 elsewhere on the lot. The intensity and assortment of early and late 19th-century materials
from the west side of the wall suggest trash deposition over quite a period of time. However, a study of the
profile drawn after excavation was completed suggests that the later materials probably came from the upper
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TABLE 9. ARTIFACTS FROM TRENCH C, PHASE Il

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
a, Level 3a (90 to 110 cm) Kitchen/Dining Items
Clothing Bone 49
Shell button 1 Bottle caps 5
Construction Items Ceramics
halt tile 3 Decorated whitewares
Brick fragment 1 Banded slip 1
Carbon rod 1 Hand painted 8
Mortar fragment 1 Shell edged 1
Lead fragment 1 %ponge 1
Window glass 9 ransfer 6
Wire nails 4 Lead-glazed ware 19
Kitchen/Dining Items Porcelain 3
Bone 3 Stoneware 3
Bottle cap 1 Tin-glazed wares
Ceramics Blue-on-white 16
Goliad 1 Polychrome 4
Undecorated whiteware 1 San Elizario Polychrome 3
Glass container fragments 7 Tumacacori 2
Miscellaneous Item Undecorated 16
Coal 1 Undecorated whiteware 16
Unglazed ware 9
b, Level 4 (110 to 166 cm) Yellow ware 6
Activity Items Egg shell fragments
Slate fragment 1 Glass container fragments 155
Slate pencil 1 Iron scrap 5
Barn/Shop/Workshop Items Tin can scrap fragments
Lcatﬁer fragment 1 Miscellaneous Items
Whetstone fragment 1 Coal fragments 4
Clothing Personal Items
Buttons 8 Comb tooth 1
Brass fastener 1 Glass bead 1
Construction Items Liberty Head nickel, 1895 1
Asphalt tile 3 Scissors handle 1
Brick fragments 2 Prehistoric Remains
Carbon rod 1 Chert 1
Cut nails 3
Hinge 1 ¢, Level 5 (166 to 180 cm)
Plaster fragment 1 Construction Item
Porcelain insulator 1 Window glass 1
Screws 4 Household Items
Window glass 45 Lamp chimney 2
Wire nails 66 Kitchen/Dining Items
Household Items Bone 4
Door knob 1 Ceramics
Lamp chimney 41 Lead-glazed ware 1
Undecorated whiteware 1
Glass container fragments 10

level and consisted of discarded trash used to fill the acequia bed, and later spread over the area when the
brick foundation was built, demolishing the acequia. The earlier materials probably came from the lower
level that represented the soils below this demolition that correspond to Levels 3 and 4 elsewhere on the lot.
There was a surprising lack of 18th-century material in this deposit, perhaps because of the growing distance
from the main center of occupation on Dolorosa Street.

SUMMARY OF PHASE III TESTING

Phase III testing was successful in finding the east wall of the Salinas-Barrera house at the expected location
and in finding artifacts such as Goliad ware and 18th-century tin-glazed ceramic sherds in the immediate
vicinity of the foundation that suggest an 18th-century date of occupation. Additional early sherds (San
Elizario and San Diego patterns, see “Artifact Analysis” section) in Units A2 and A1 confirm the fact that
this land could have been occupied from at least the 1770s. '

The acequia was also located and found to be in sound condition for approximately 15 m (50 feet) south of
the sidewalk on Dolorosa Street. The width of the channel (115 cm or 45 inches) and the construction of the
stone walls lining it have now been recorded.



TABLE 10. ARTIFACTS FROM TRENCH D, PHASE III

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS ARTIFACT TYPE SPECIMENS
a, east of wall, all levels Gas light fragment 1
Barn/Shop/Workshop Items Lead giagments 2
Shoe repair form 1 Miscellaneous metal fragments
Wire 2 Mortar 2
Construction Items Plaster 2
irbon rods 4 Threaded pipe coupling 1
Window glass 37 Window glass 254
Wire nails 12 Wire nails 145
Household Item Household Items
. ower pot 1 Brass drawer pull 1
Kitchen/Dining Items Clock hand 1
Bone 26 Lamp chimney 40
Bottle cap 1 Metal finial 1
Ceramics Kitchen/Dining Items
Decorated whitewares Bone 151
Transfer 3 Bottle caps 17
Porcelain 5 Ceramics
Undecorated whiteware 1 Decorated whitewares
Glass container fragments 82 Banded slip 9
Opyster shell 5 Hand painted 9
Tin can scrap fragments Shell edged 1
Sponge 13
b, west of wall, all levels ransfer 1
Activity Items Lead-glazed wares 10
oll’s eye 1 Porcelain 21
Marbles 2 Undecorated tin-glazed ware  §
Slate pencils 3 Undecorated whiteware 168
s Unglazed ware
Shell casing, .58-.62 caliber 1 Yellow ware 3
Barn/Shop/Workshop Items Glass container fragments 506
rbon rods 189 Iron scrap 10
Flywheel 1 Oyster shell 16
Leather rivet 1 Silver-plated sFoon 1
Miscellaneous wire fragments Tin can scrap fragments
Clothing Miscellaneous Items
Buttons 6 Coal fragments
Scissors handle 1 Quartz crystal 1
Construction Items Personal Items
Asphalt tile 2 Oval eyeglass lens 1
Brick fragments 4 %yringe tube 1
Ceramic tile 2 oken (1880-1900) 1
Cut nails 16 Prehistoric Remains
Chert fragments 3

It also appeared that there might be a possibility of intact back yard deposits in the area immediately east of
the acequia, behind the Salinas-Barrera house. The recommendation was therefore made that additional
archaeological testing be done in this area.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER WORK AFTER PHASE III
The following recommendations were made to the Commissioners Court after studies had been completed
on Phase III results. They were formulated in consultation with J. Barto Arnold III of the staff of the Texas

Antiquities Committee.

1. A 50-foot-square area in the back yard of the Salinas-Barrera house should be tested to determine if any
intact trash deposits survive that would tell us more about the occupants of the Salinas-Barrera house.

2. Funds should be allocated for the production of a final report on all phases of the investigation.

3. The remaining section of the acequia at the north end of the block is sufficiently intact to be used as part
of a landscaping plan for the new building.

37



